**IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT**

---

SUPREME COURT NO. 16-1666  
LINN COUNTY NO. LACV082464

---

NOLAN DEEDS,  
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF MARION, ST. LUKE'S WORK WELL SOLUTIONS, ST.  
LUKE'S HEALTHCARE, and IOWA HEALTH SYSTEM d/b/a UNITY  
POINT HEALTH,  
Defendants-Appellees.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY  
HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER L. BRUNS

---

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT NOLAN DEEDS'  
APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW**

---

**IOWA COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DATED OCTOBER 11, 2017**

---

Brooke Timmer AT0008821  
[brooke@employmentlawiowa.com](mailto:brooke@employmentlawiowa.com)  
Katie Ervin Carlson AT0008958

## INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Nolan was diagnosed with relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis in December 2011. (App. 119-121). In March 2012, Nolan applied to be a full-time firefighter for the City of Marion. (App. 561-565). As part of the application process with the City, Nolan passed a written test and a physical agility test. (App. 84, 546). On April 3, 2012, the Marion Civil Service Commission certified that Nolan was qualified for selection as a firefighter. (App. 544-545). On November 13, 2013, the City offered Nolan a full-time paid firefighter position, contingent upon satisfactory completion of a physical examination and background check. (App. 85, 547).

On November 21, 2013, Nolan underwent a post-offer fitness for duty examination at St. Luke's Work Well Solutions in Cedar Rapids.<sup>1</sup> (App. 550). UnityPoint physician Dr. Ann McKinstry conducted the examination. Although she admits Nolan "probably" could perform all the essential functions of the firefighter job, Dr. McKinstry nonetheless decided that Nolan could not be a firefighter because he has multiple sclerosis. (App. 531). Dr. McKinstry's disqualification was based on an industry guideline which contradicted the

---

<sup>1</sup> The parties and lower courts have referred to St. Luke's Work Well Solutions, St. Luke's Healthcare, and Iowa Health System d/b/a UnityPoint Health collectively as the "UnityPoint Defendants" throughout the proceedings. For the sake of clarity, Plaintiff continues that practice herein.



statutorily-mandated physical examination protocol, and which the City never adopted. (App. 510-11, 514, 522, 528, 541). The industry standard excludes from employment *all* applicants with multiple sclerosis who have had any symptoms in the three years prior to their application. (App. 179-191, 527). Once she knew Nolan had MS, Dr. McKinstry felt like determining whether Nolan could perform the essential functions of the firefighter job was “sort of a moot point.” (App. 527, 531).

The Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa (MFPRSI) provides a form for physicians to indicate whether a firefighter candidate is medically qualified to perform the essential functions of the job. (App. 551). If a physician medically disqualifies a candidate, “the basis for that conclusion should be set out in the ‘Comments’ section” of the form. (App. 551). Dr. McKinstry completed the form but neglected to provide any information regarding the basis for Nolan’s medical disqualification. (App. 551).

The City revoked Nolan’s offer of employment without seeking any additional information. (App. 512, 514, 515-16, 553). Fire Chief Terry Jackson did not believe he had the authority to overrule Dr. McKinstry. (App. 516).

On January 30, 2015, Nolan filed a Petition charging Defendant City of Marion with disability discrimination in violation of the ICRA, and charging the UnityPoint Defendants with aiding and abetting discrimination in violation of the ICRA. (App. 1-6).

On June 21, 2016, the UnityPoint Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (App. 336-356), which Nolan resisted (App. 448-476). The City of Marion filed its own Motion for Summary Judgment (App. 22-50), which Nolan also resisted (App. 192-212). On August 29, 2016, the trial court granted both Motions for Summary Judgment and dismissed all Nolan's claims. (App. 623-640).

This is an appeal by Nolan of the summary judgment entered for Defendants on his disability discrimination and aiding and abetting claims under the ICRA. Nolan filed timely Notice of Appeal on September 27, 2016. (App. 641-42). On October 11, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion affirming the district court's decision granting summary judgment on Nolan's claims.

There is no dispute that the City revoked Nolan's offer *because of* his disability, but the district court and Court of Appeals excused the discrimination, holding that Nolan could not show the City intended to discriminate against him when it blindly accepted Dr. McKinstry's medical disqualification. In so doing, the Court of Appeals created a loophole in Iowa law that permits employers to escape liability for disability discrimination. This Court should vacate the opinion of the Court of Appeals, reverse the judgment of the district court, and remand the case for trial because a reasonable jury can find that the City discriminated against Nolan because of his disability and that the UnityPoint Defendants aided and abetted discrimination.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The decision of the Court of Appeals invites employers to discriminate against qualified applicants with disabilities by outsourcing their post-offer physical examinations.**

To prevail on his disability discrimination claim under the Iowa Civil Rights Act, Nolan must prove: (1) that he has a disability, (2) that he is qualified to perform the essential functions of the firefighter position, and (3) that the circumstances of the City's decision to rescind his job offer raise an inference of illegal discrimination. *Goodpaster v. Schwan's Home Serv., Inc.*, 849 N.W.2d 1, 6 (Iowa 2014). The district court held that Nolan "created a genuine factual dispute regarding the existence of a disability," (App. 633) and "generated a genuine issue of material fact on his qualification." (App. 634). The decisions of both the district court and the Court of Appeals turned on the third element.

Despite finding a genuine dispute of material fact on Nolan's qualification to perform the job to which he had applied, the district court then held, "the City did not withdraw the job offer because of Mr. Deeds' disability. It withdrew the offer because Mr. Deeds ... was not medically qualified to perform." (App. 635). In so holding, the district court endorsed the City's argument that it did not deny Nolan employment because of his *disability*, but because he could not pass a medical screening because of his disability. That holding was erroneous considering *Boelman v. Manson State Bank*, 522 N.W.2d 73, 77 (Iowa 1994) in which this Court held that when the reason for an employee's discharge is

“causally connected to” the employee’s disability, the discharge is “because of” the employee’s disability.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the City relied on Dr. McKinstry’s medical disqualification. Opinion, 6. With this key fact in mind, the Court of Appeals next should have asked, “Was the physician’s disqualification discriminatory?” After all, if Nolan could perform the essential functions of the firefighter job despite his disability, then he was qualified to perform the job and should not have been denied employment. *Boelman*, 522 N.W.2d at 80; *see also Courtney v. American Nat. Can Co.*, 537 N.W.2d 681, 685 (Iowa 1995) (“A person is qualified within the meaning of chapter 216 if the person ‘can perform the essential functions of the job ‘in spite of’ his or her disability”).

“[A]n employer may not base its employment decisions on ‘prejudice, stereotypes, or unfounded fear.’” *Courtney*, 537 N.W.2d at 685 (quoting *School Bd. of Nassau County v. Arline*, 480 U.S. 273, 287 (1987)). “Consequently, a blanket exclusion of a particular class of disabled persons is not allowed unless the disability necessarily renders all members of the class incapable of performing the essential functions of the job.” *Id.* (citing *Frank v. American Freight Sys., Inc.*, 398 N.W.2d 797, 801 (Iowa 1987)). A decision to disqualify Nolan based on his multiple sclerosis diagnosis, despite the *undisputed fact* that he could perform the essential functions of the job, runs afoul of the ICRA. It is *precisely* the type of

discrimination the ICRA is meant to eradicate. *See, e.g.* 42 U.S.C. § 12101(a)(5) (“individuals with disabilities continually encounter various forms of discrimination, including outright intentional exclusion, ... exclusionary qualification standards and criteria, ... and relegation to lesser ... jobs”); *see also Goodpaster*, 849 N.W.2d at 15 (“whether an individual is qualified for a particular job, despite his or her disability, requires an *individualized* inquiry”) (quoting *Courtney*, 537 N.W.2d at 685) (emphasis added).

But rather than ask whether the disqualification was discriminatory, the Court of Appeals asked whether the City *directed* its contracted physician to apply a discriminatory standard. Opinion, 7. Answering the question in the negative, the Court of Appeals held that, “[t]he evidence only supports a finding that the City contracted with UnityPoint to complete the medical evaluation of any firefighter candidates and relied on its doctors’ professional judgment in making its final hiring decisions. This does not provide a sufficient basis for liability under the ICRA.” Opinion, 7. With those words, the Court of Appeals created a shield against liability for employers who outsource their post-offer physical examinations. Put another way, the Court of Appeals authorized employers to discriminate, via proxy, against qualified applicants with disabilities.

The Court of Appeals did not cite any authority to support its holding. *See* Opinion, 6-7. There is, however, ample authority to the contrary. *See Bates v. Dura Auto. Sys., Inc.*, 767 F.3d 566, 581 (6th Cir. 2014) (employers cannot use

third parties to “circumvent ADA protections”); *Holiday v. City of Chattanooga*, 206 F.3d 637, 645 (6th Cir. 2000) (“Employers do not escape their legal obligations under the ADA by contracting out certain hiring and personnel functions to third parties”); *Fromm v. MVM, Inc.*, 371 Fed.Appx. 263, 271 (3d Cir. 2010) (unpublished) (employer “cannot rest on blind contractual compliance to escape liability for discrimination”); *Wagner v. Inter-Con Security Systems, Inc.*, --- F.Supp.3d ---, 2017 WL 4382135 at \*7 (S.D.N.Y. Sep. 29, 2017) (“the court is skeptical of an argument that suggests an employer, via contract, can delegate” an essential functions determination “in its entirety”); *Keneipp v. MVM, Inc.*, --- F.Supp.3d ---, 2017 WL 3197732 at \*4 (N.D. Okla. July 27, 2017) (“the ADAAA does not permit MVM to utilize such a contract as a shield for any disability discrimination”); *E.E.O.C. v. American Tool & Mold, Inc.*, 21 F.Supp.3d 1268, 1284 (M.D. Fla. 2014) (argument that an individualized assessment was made was belied by evidence that examiner did not know what essential functions were); *Wise v. Akal Sec., Inc.*, 2005 WL 3487741 at \*3 (W.D. Tex. Dec. 21, 2005) (employer prohibited from relying upon retained physician “to avoid its ADA obligations”).

Most importantly, this Court’s precedent makes it clear that blind reliance upon a contracted medical examination is no excuse for denying employment to a *qualified* applicant with a disability. In *Sabai v. Davies*, 557 N.W.2d 898, 901 (Iowa 1997) this Court held that “an employer should be free to seek out expert

medical opinion[s] and those professionals asked to give such opinions should be free to make independent medical judgments.” The Court specifically warned, however, that an employer’s failure to ask follow-up questions concerning a physician’s finding that an employee could not perform the essential functions of a job might violate “employment discrimination laws.” *Id.* at 902.

The Court’s language in *Sabai*, warning against blindly accepting a third-party medical provider’s view on an applicant’s qualification, is consistent with the Court’s decisions in *Boelman* and *Courtney*, which both highlighted the need to determine an applicant’s ability to perform the essential functions of a job. *Boelman*, 522 N.W.2d at 80; *Courtney*, 537 N.W.2d at 685. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with *Sabai*, *Boelman*, and *Courtney* because it excuses an employer’s denial of employment to qualified applicants with disabilities. If an applicant can perform the essential functions of a job, “the qualified person element is met.” *Casey’s General Stores, Inc. v. Blackford*, 661 N.W.2d 515, 520 (Iowa 2003).

A key argument made by the parties at the district court, and briefed again by the parties before on appeal, was whether the City should be charged with the knowledge of Nolan’s physical impairment that the UnityPoint Defendants obtained in the scope of their agency with the City. The Court of Appeals broadly held that there was no “evidence that the City knew of Deeds’s MS diagnosis.” Opinion, 7. However, the standard for liability is not whether the

City had knowledge that Nolan had a physical impairment that constitutes a disability *under the law*. Rather, the standard is whether the City had knowledge that Nolan had a physical impairment. *Adams v. Rice*, 531 F.3d 936, 953 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (“in pure discrimination cases ... an employer’s knowledge of the precise limitation at issue is irrelevant; so long as the employee can show that her impairment ultimately clears the statutory hurdle for a disability ... the employer will be liable if it takes adverse action against her based on that impairment”); *Schmidt v. Safeway Inc.*, 864 F.Supp. 991, 997 (D. Or. 1994) (“an employer knows an employee has a disability when the employee tells the employer about his condition, *or* when the employer otherwise becomes aware of the condition, *such as through a third party* or by observation”) (emphasis added). The City clearly had that knowledge because the UnityPoint Defendants communicated their *medical* disqualification of Nolan to the City. (App. 551).

Moreover, in holding the City had no knowledge of Nolan’s physical limitations, the Court ignored the principles of agency. Opinion, 7. A principal is charged with the knowledge of its agents. *See* Restatement (Third) of Agency § 5.03; *Huff v. United Van Lines*, 28 N.W.2d 793, 799 (Iowa 1947); *Wells Enter., Inc. v. Olympic Ice Cream*, 2012 WL 2562768 at \*4 (N.D. Iowa June 29, 2012).

Under simple agency theory, the City knew everything that the UnityPoint Defendants knew about Nolan’s physical impairment. There is no exception to this rule for situations in which the agent fails to expressly pass its knowledge on



to the principal. Such an exception would encourage employers to have their agents disqualify disabled applicants, but not communicate the reason for the disqualification, a practice anti-discrimination laws disallow.

There is no authority allowing an employer to deny employment to a *qualified* applicant with a disability, just as there is no authority supporting an exception to the ICRA's prohibition against disability discrimination for employers that do the same by outsourcing their post-offer physical examinations. Allowing employers to break the law so long as they use non-employee agents to do so contradicts the legislature's command to broadly construe the ICRA. Iowa Code § 216.18(1). Plainly, employers cannot bury their heads in the agency sand to avoid liability.

UnityPoint, the City's third-party medical provider, disqualified Nolan from employment because of his disability. The City relied *solely* upon the medical provider's disqualification in reaching its decision to rescind Nolan's offer of employment. *There is no clearer example of a qualified applicant being denied employment because of his disability.* The decisions of the trial court and the Court of Appeals should be vacated, and the case should be remanded for trial.

**II. The decision of the Court of Appeals failed to analyze the propriety of the district court's grant of immunity to medical providers who utilize discriminatory standards to exclude qualified applicants for employment.**

With respect to the UnityPoint Defendants, the district court held that *Sabai v. Davies*, 557 N.W.2d 898 (Iowa 1997), a discrimination case, is “equally applicable to an aiding and abetting claim” under the ICRA. (App. 630). Although it failed to cite any Iowa cases supporting its interpretation, the district court read *Sabai* to provide the UnityPoint Defendants with immunity from liability so long as Dr. McKinstry’s involvement was “advisory” and she rendered an independent medical judgment on Nolan’s physical qualification. (App. 630). The district court held that Dr. McKinstry subjectively believed the examination was advisory, and despite Dr. McKinstry’s admission that Nolan was qualified to perform the essential functions of the job, that the disqualification was based on Dr. McKinstry’s independent medical judgment. (App. 630-631). Based on these conclusions, the district court found the UnityPoint Defendants did not aid and abet disability discrimination.

Despite the district court’s analysis wholly lacking any legal support, the Court of Appeals did not analyze the district court’s holding on the aiding and abetting issue and simply assumed that *Sabai* did not apply to Nolan’s aiding and abetting claim. Opinion, 8. Although Nolan agrees that *Sabai* should not apply to his aiding and abetting claims, the Court of Appeals failed to analyze the merits of the issue.

The Court of Appeals reached its conclusion, and did not consider whether *Sabai* controlled the outcome of the aiding and abetting claim,

“[b]ecause [Plaintiff] has failed to show the City engaged in a discriminatory employment practice, his claim that UnityPoint aided or abetted in the discriminatory employment practice necessarily fails.” Opinion, 9. For the reasons set forth above, the City’s outsourcing of post-offer physical examinations should not insulate it from liability for its denial of employment to a qualified applicant. Thus, Nolan’s aiding and abetting claim should be analyzed on the merits.

To succeed on his aiding and abetting claim against the UnityPoint Defendants, Nolan must prove a reasonable jury could find the UnityPoint Defendants intentionally aided, abetted, compelled, or coerced the City to engage in unlawful disability discrimination. Iowa Code § 216.11. Unfortunately, there is a drought of Iowa appellate cases interpreting the ICRA’s aiding and abetting provision. *See, e.g., Blazek v. U.S. Cellular Corp.*, 937 F. Supp. 2d 1003, 1024 (N.D. Iowa 2011) (“[t]he parties have not cited, and I have not found, any other decision of the Iowa Supreme Court interpreting the ‘aiding and abetting’ portion of § 216.11.”). In moving for summary judgment, the Unity Point Defendants focused on the argument that *Sabai* controls the outcome of the aiding and abetting claim and relieves UnityPoint of any liability.

In *Sabai*, this Court narrowly held that a third-party physician who recommended a pregnant employee should not be hired, and telephoned the employer to explain that reasoning, was not liable for discrimination under the

ICRA because “within the context of the [employer’s] hiring decision the clinic’s role was advisory.” *Sabai*, 557 N.W.2d at 901 (emphasis added). The Court further explained that, “[r]ecommendations made in this context that are directly responsive to a prospective employer’s request are not in our view discriminatory actions.” *Id.*

Two years after deciding *Sabai*, the Court clarified its holding, explaining it “simply denied that the physician was in a position to control the company’s hiring decisions...” *Vivian v. Madison*, 601 N.W.2d 872, 876 (Iowa 1999). The unanimous *Vivian* opinion clearly establishes the difference between the physician in *Sabai* and Dr. McKinstry in this case and should have provided the basis for the district court to conclude *Sabai* does not relieve the UnityPoint Defendants from liability.

Chief Jackson received the examination form and rescinded Nolan’s job offer. (App. 553). Dr. McKinstry’s medical disqualification was Chief Jackson’s sole basis for rescinding Nolan’s offer. (App. 512, 514, 515). Chief Jackson did not believe he had the authority to overrule Dr. McKinstry and hire Nolan despite the medical disqualification. (App. 516). The City of Marion never provided Chief Jackson with any training on disability discrimination. (App. 80).

Chief Jackson, Assistant Chief Krebill, and Dr. McKinstry all agree that there were no essential functions of the firefighter job that Nolan could not perform at the time the City rescinded the job offer. (App. 263-64, 273, 516).

Chief Jackson did not investigate the basis for Dr. McKinstry's opinion that Nolan was not medically qualified for the firefighter job, nor was the Chief bothered that Dr. McKinstry provided absolutely no justification for her opinion. (App. 512). Though Chief Jackson sought no details, he knew disqualification was related to a medical problem. (App. 517-518). Dr. McKinstry provided the City with nothing more than a stark disqualification. This disqualification ended the hiring process for Nolan because the opinion controlled the City's hiring decision in its entirety, something Dr. McKinstry herself knew would happen. (App. 532). The City's decision blindly to follow Dr. McKinstry's disqualification renders *Sabai* inapposite.

There is evidence from which a reasonable jury could infer that Dr. McKinstry was not merely acting "in furtherance of an independent duty," but that she personally sought to keep Nolan from serving as a firefighter because of his MS diagnosis. At least three neurologists disagreed with Dr. McKinstry's opinion. Dr. Richard Neiman, one of Nolan's treating neurologists, testified Nolan could have performed the essential functions of his job without posing a significant risk to the health or safety of others. (App. 534, 536). Dr. Neiman also testified there is no reason to disqualify a person from working as a firefighter just because he had some activity related to an MS diagnosis in the previous three years. (App. 535). Dr. Torage Shivapour agreed with Dr. Nieman's sentiment. (App. 537, 570). A third neurologist, Dr. Bruce Hughes, opined that "the reason

for the disqualification was not based in fact that Mr. Deeds could not safely perform any of these duties” and that Nolan’s MS would not “pose a direct threat to the health or safety of himself or others if he were permitted to work as a firefighter.” (App. 576-577).

Armed with the unambiguous professional opinion of three neurologists that Nolan could safely perform the essential functions of the firefighter position, a reasonable jury could conclude that Dr. McKinstry was relying on prejudice, stereotypes, or unfounded fear when she disqualified Nolan from employment because of his disability.

The decision of the Court of Appeals should be vacated, and the decision of the district court should be reversed, because a reasonable jury could find that the UnityPoint Defendants aided and abetted discrimination.

## **CONCLUSION**

The decision of the Court of Appeals invites employers to implement post-offer medical examination schemes utilizing third parties to identify and exclude qualified candidates with disabilities without regard for the candidate’s ability to perform the essential functions of the job, thus undermining the clear purpose of the ICRA. Under the Court of Appeals’ decision, employers have unprecedented freedom to deny employment to qualified applicants with disabilities by relying blindly upon medical disqualifications from outside medical providers. Such practices cannot be sanctioned under Iowa law.

This Court should grant further review, vacate the decision of the Court of Appeals, reverse the decision of the district court, and remand this matter for a jury trial on Nolan's claims of disability discrimination and aiding and abetting discrimination.

## ATTORNEY'S COST CERTIFICATE

I, Nathan Borland, certify that there was no cost to reproduce copies of the preceding Application for Further Review because the Application is being filed exclusively in the Appellate Courts' EDMS system.

Certified by: /s/ Nathan Borland