IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 16-1666

NOLAN DEEDS

Plaintiff-Appellant

VS.

CITY OF MARION, ST. LUKE'S WORK WELL SOLUTIONS, ST. LUKE'S HEALTHCARE, AND IOWA HEALTH SYSTEM d/b/a UNITYPOINT HEALTH

Defendants-Appellees

On Appeal From The Iowa District Court For Linn County
The Honorable Christopher L. Bruns

UNITYPOINT'S RESISTANCE TO DEEDS' APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

IOWA COURT OF APPEALS DECISION OF OCTOBER 11, 2017

Karin A. Johnson, AT0007677 Samantha M. Rollins, AT0011968 Mitch G. Nass, AT0012339 FAEGRE BAKER DANIELS LLP 801 Grand Avenue, 33rd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50309 Telephone: (515) 248-9000

Telephone: (515) 248-9000 Facsimile: (515) 248-9010

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

ARGUMENT

I. Introductory Statement in Resistance of Further Review.

The procedural rules guiding this Court's determination of whether to grant further review of a decision of the Court of Appeals instruct that "[a]n application for further review will not be granted in normal circumstances." Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b). Nothing outside of the "normal circumstances" is presented here. Indeed, both the Court of Appeals and the District Court correctly applied existing Iowa law in a manner consistent with the precedent of this Court. *See generally* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1), (4).

- II. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the District Court's Decision Granting Summary Judgment to UnityPoint.
 - A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding Deeds' Discrimination Claim Against the City of Marion—and Its Dependent Ruling as to the Aiding and Abetting Claim Against UnityPoint—Are Based on Settled Principles of Law that Implicate No Issues of Public Importance.

As an initial matter, and as set forth more fully in the City of Marion's Resistance to Deeds' Application for Further Review, the District Court appropriately granted summary judgment to the City of Marion on Deeds' discrimination claim based on a settled application of the Iowa Civil Rights Act. Specifically, the Court accurately concluded Deeds had not generated a disputed issue of material fact as to whether the City declined to hire Deeds "because of" his disability. App. 634-38. The Court further concluded the City's decision was based on the individualized medical examination performed by Dr. McKinstry revealing Deeds was not medically qualified to perform the essential functions of the firefighter position. App. 631. Moreover, Fire Chief Terry Jackson—who made the decision not to hire Deeds—was aware only that Deeds had not passed the medical examination, and did not know Deeds had been diagnosed with MS. App. 79, 82-83, 256-57 (Tr. 9:3-5, 19:4-15, 23:2-7, 38:22 – 39:1, 50:18 – 51:5); App. 93 (Tr. 32:9-15).

The Court of Appeals therefore properly affirmed the decision of the District Court as to the City of Marion, and did so based on the application of settled principles of Iowa law. *See* Opinion, p. 8; *see also Casey's Gen. Stores, Inc. v. Blackford*, 661 N.W.2d 515, 519 (Iowa 2003) (setting forth the *prima facie* elements of a disability discrimination claim). And, as the Court of Appeals further held, this finding bars Deeds from prevailing on an aiding and abetting claim pursuant to Iowa Code § 216.11 against UnityPoint. *See* Opinion, pp. 8-9.

The premise on which the Court of Appeals relied to reach its decision—that Deeds' failure to establish a claim of discrimination against the City of Marion precludes him from prevailing on an aiding and abetting claim—is compelled by the plain wording of the statute. *See* Iowa Code § 216.11(1) (it is "an unfair or discriminatory practice for . . . [a]ny person to intentionally aid, abet, compel, or coerce another person *to engage in any of the practices declared unfair or discriminatory by this chapter*." (emphasis

added)).1

Importantly, Deeds has never disputed the premise that an underlying discriminatory practice must exist to establish an aiding and abetting claim.² And Deeds does not now advance the view that the Court of Appeals' recognition of this premise is inconsistent with Iowa Code § 216.11. *See generally* Deeds' Application for Further Review. The present appeal was therefore appropriately transferred to and decided by the Court of Appeals as one "presenting the application of existing legal principles." Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

_

The Court of Appeals' interpretation is consistent with the Federal decisions interpreting Iowa law that have reached this issue. *See Stoddard v. BE & K, Inc.*, 993 F. Supp. 2d 991, 1007 (S.D. Iowa 2014) (aiding and abetting discrimination claim necessarily fails if underlying discrimination claim is dismissed); *Asplund v. iPC's Wireless, Inc.*, 602 F. Supp. 2d 1005, 1011 (N.D. Iowa 2008) (observing that criminal jurisprudence addressing aiding and abetting claims suggests liability under Iowa Code § 216.11 is only triggered when a defendant "actively participates or in some manner encourages *the commission* of an unfair or discriminatory practice *prior to or at the time of its commission*." (emphasis added)).

² In Deeds' opening brief, he challenged the District Court's findings related to the "viability of Nolan's disability discrimination claim against the City," but not the independent premise that an aiding and abetting claim depends upon the establishment of an underlying discrimination claim. *See* Deeds' Final Brief and Request for Oral Argument, p. 31.

B. Sahai, Vivian, and Iowa's Well-Settled Control Principle Preclude Aiding and Abetting Liability Against UnityPoint.

While Deeds has never asserted that an entity may be liable for aiding and abetting discrimination without a viable underlying discrimination claim, in his Application for Further Review he presents the following issue to be decided: "[d]id the Court of Appeals err in failing to analyze the merits of Plaintiff's aiding and abetting claim?" Deeds' Application for Further Review, p. 2. Deeds analyzes that question by discussing this Court's opinions in the cases of *Sahai v. Davies*, 557 N.W.2d 898 (Iowa 1997) and *Vivian v. Madison*, 601 N.W.2d 872 (Iowa 1999).

But irrespective of whether the Court concludes further review is necessary as to the viability of Deeds' claim against the City of Marion or whether the absence of a viable, underlying discrimination claim alone bars an aiding and abetting claim, denial of Deeds' Application is warranted as to the judgment in favor of UnityPoint. The District Court's reasoning as to Deeds' aiding and abetting claim flowed directly from this Court's decision in *Sahai*, and therefore is not in conflict with previous court precedent. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1). And to the extent issues of broad public importance are raised in this appeal, they are issues that have already been resolved by that very precedent established by this Court. *See* Iowa R. App.

P. 6.1103(1)(b)(4).

Specifically, the holding of *Sahai* controls the outcome here: medical advice based upon a physician's independent medical judgment and offered in an advisory capacity will not result in liability under Iowa Code § 216.11. App. 845; *Sahai*, 557 N.W.2d at 901. This Court subsequently interpreted *Sahai*'s holding, in dicta, to mean a physician is not liable for aiding and abetting unless he or she is "in a position to control the company's hiring decisions." *Vivian*, 601 N.W.2d at 876. Taken together, *Sahai* and *Vivian* stand for the proposition that control over an employer's hiring decisions requires more than the mere ability to offer an advisory opinion based on independent medical judgment.

Deeds' continued reliance on the mere fact that Chief Jackson chose to follow Dr. McKinstry's advice as evidence that UnityPoint exercised control over the City's hiring decision stretches the concept of control beyond its legal meaning. Conversely, the dictates of *Sahai* and *Vivian*—that proffering an advisory opinion that the employer may accept or reject does not result in liability—is consistent with the control principle. This Court, for example, has previously construed control as the ability to prevent a wrong from occurring. *See McCormick v. Nikkel & Assocs., Inc.*, 819 N.W.2d 368, 374 (Iowa 2012). Control is similarly viewed as the ability to direct the manner

and method of another's activity. See generally Iowa Mut. Ins. Co. v. McCarthy, 572 N.W.2d 537, 543 (Iowa 1997); Downs v. A & H Const., Ltd., 481 N.W.2d 520, 525 (Iowa 1992).

Here, the only conclusion supported by the record is that Dr. McKinstry lacked control over the City of Marion's hiring decision. Indeed, the undisputed testimony is that the City of Marion alone held the authority to revoke Deeds' offer of employment, and that Dr. McKinstry lacked both the power and authority to disqualify prospective employees. App. 79, 82, 257 (Tr. 9:3-5, 19:4-15, 50:18 – 51:5); App. 378 (Tr. 244:14 – 245:2); App. 404 (Tr. 77:7-10). In other words, Dr. McKinstry could not direct the outcome of the City of Marion's hiring decision; to the contrary, even after Dr. McKinstry provided her advisory opinion, the City remained free to hire Deeds for any position it desired.

Moreover, Deeds conceded during his deposition he had no evidence of discriminatory intent or assistance on the part of Dr. McKinstry: Deeds testified he did not believe Dr. McKinstry gave her medical opinion in an attempt to "sabotage" his chances for employment with the City (App. 375 [Tr. 180:6-13]); he testified he was not aware of any animus Dr. McKinstry held toward individuals with MS (App. 375 [Tr. 180:25 – 181:2]); and he acknowledged he had no reason to believe that Dr. McKinstry and the City

had conspired to exclude him from employment because of his MS (App. 375 [Tr. 180:14-21]). Consistent with Deeds' beliefs, Dr. McKinstry testified she wished she had been in a position to recommend Deeds for the firefighter position. App. 405 (Tr. 81:12-15).

Following the line of authority marked by *Sahai* and *Vivian*, and consistent with the principle of control as defined by this Court, the District Court therefore properly held UnityPoint was not as a matter of law liable under Iowa Code § 216.11.

Two final points raised in Deeds' Application require response. *First*, Deeds misconstrues Dr. McKinstry's testimony as to the ability of Deeds to perform the essential functions of the firefighter position. Deeds contends Dr. McKinstry made an "admission" as to Deeds's ability to perform the essential functions of the firefighter position. Deeds' Application for Further Review, pp. 18, 20. To the contrary, Dr. McKinstry testified that because Deeds had experienced symptoms fairly recently, the risk that they would come on again made it unsafe for him to work as a firefighter. App. 531 (Tr. 66:14-21), App. 270 (Tr. 51:9-20), App. 273 (Tr. 68:6-21). These considerations formed the basis for her opinion that Deeds *was not* medically qualified to perform as a firefighter. App. 389; App. 399, 402-03 (Tr. 49:15-25, 60:3-21, 71:1-5).

Second, Deeds' reliance on the opinions offered by other physicians is misplaced. See Deeds' Application for Further Review, pp. 21-22. The relevant inquiry is not whether a reasonable physician in Dr. McKinstry's position would have reached a contrary conclusion; rather, it is whether the opinion offered by Dr. McKinstry was based on her independent medical judgment and offered in an advisory capacity. Sahai, 557 N.W.2d at 901. The medical opinions of other physicians have no bearing whatsoever on this inquiry.

CONCLUSION

The reasoning of the Court of Appeals' decision that an aiding and abetting claim is not actionable absent an underlying finding of discrimination, and the reasoning of the District Court finding an advisory opinion based on independent medical judgment does not result in liability under Iowa Code § 216.11, both flow directly from and are consistent with the principles of Iowa law that this Court has previously recognized. Accordingly, the circumstances do not warrant granting Deeds' Application for Further Review.